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2020 10
103,667,175.22 97.89
2,238,915.36 2.11
105,906,090.58
100.00
7,792
30 2020 10
AUSTRALIA AND NEW
ZEALAND BANKING 282,675| 25.59| 7,233,257.30| 18.81| 5,317,116.75( 5.02
GROUP AU LINE
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA
275,918 21.21]| 5,851,939.27 | 18.60| 5,132,074.80( 4.85
BANK AU LINE
BHP GROUP LTD AUD 141,211 31.35| 4,427,140.16 | 33.78| 4,770,107.58  4.50
COCA-COLA AMATIL AU
LINE 381,001| 9.56| 3,643,322.09| 12.43| 4,735,842.43| 4.47
STOCKLAND NPV
1,179,190 3.86| 4,547,194.03| 3.85( 4,539,881.50| 4.29
STAPLED AUD
COMMONWEALTH BANK
59,831 | 74.84| 4,477,586.34| 69.02 4,129,535.62| 3.90
OF AUSTRALIA AUD
TELSTRA CORP AUD 1,536,864 | 3.58| 5,504,370.65| 2.68( 4,118,795.52| 3.89
AGL ENERGY LTD AUD
LINE 328,432| 20.07| 6,590,815.86 | 12.48| 4,098,831.36 3.87
WESTPAC BKG AUD 193,194 26.17| 5,055,737.33| 17.91( 3,460,104.54| 3.27
10 [ APA GROUP AUD 328,362 | 9.73| 3,194,689.46 | 10.49| 3,444,517.38| 3.25
JB HI-FI LTD AU
N 70,052 | 29.18| 2,044,261.06 | 47.43( 3,322,566.36| 3.14
12 [ COLES GROUP LTD AUD 182,411 14.10| 2,571,676.45| 17.75( 3,237,795.25| 3.06
NINE ENTERTAINMENT
310 1,537,403 1.59| 2,438,938.84| 2.08( 3,197,798.24| 3.02
HARVEY NORMAN HLDGS
14 718,273 4.03| 2,893,991.26| 4.44| 3,189,132.12| 3.01
LTD AUD
INSURANCE AUSTRALIA
15 644,519| 6.09| 3,924,084.77| 4.77| 3,074,355.63 | 2.90
GROUP AUD
SCENTRE GRP STAPLED
16 1,413,727 3.34| 4,723,474.55| 2.10| 2,968,826.70| 2.80
UNIT AUD
MEDIBANK PRIVATE
7 5o aup 1,101,858 | 2.81| 3,095,904.92| 2.67 2,941,960.86| 2.78
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AURIZON HLDGS AU

18 LINE 779,806 4.67| 3,639,307.18 3.77| 2,939,868.62| 2.78
SUNCORP GROUP LTD

19 AUD 333,178 11.59| 3,863,107.79 8.21| 2,735,391.39| 2.58
SPARK

20 1,326,096 2.21] 2,930,125.09 1.99] 2,632,300.67 | 2.49
INFRASTRUCTURE AUD
100F HOLDINGS LTD

21 AUD 857,920 5.18| 4,446,916.72 2.92| 2,505,126.40| 2.37
AUSNET SERVICES

22 1,242,537 1.71| 2,124,558.08 2.00| 2,485,074.00| 2.35
STAPLED UNITS AUD
WESFARMERS LTD AU

23 LINE 52,881 | 36.38| 1,924,005.55| 45.96| 2,430,410.76| 2.29
WOOLWORTHS LTD AU

24 . 55,941 | 32.24| 1,803,397.29| 38.16| 2,134,708.56| 2.02
MACQUARIE GROUP LTD

25 AUD 14,650 | 102.77| 1,505,628.45| 126.75| 1,856,887.50| 1.75
VICINITY CENTRES

26 AUD 1,530,568 2.19| 3,355,592.73 1.21| 1,851,987.28 | 1.75
TRANSURBAN GROUP

27 AUD 114,152 | 13.79| 1,573,972.44| 13.46| 1,536,485.92| 1.45
TABCORP HOLDINGS

28 434,402 3.62| 1,573,206.53 3.291 1,429,182.58 | 1.35
LTD AU LINE
WOODSIDE PETROLEUM

29 79,393 | 27.38| 2,173,487.77| 17.52] 1,390,965.36| 1.31
AU LINE

30 | ASX LTD AUD 17,406 | 75.32| 1,311,001.39| 79.63| 1,386,039.78| 1.31

2020 10

2020 10
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2020 10
2017 103,601,504.00 7,621,963 105.48 7,760
2018 74,608,653.00 5,488,959 106.36 7,825
2019 76,836,412.00 5,652,855 107.16 7,884
2020 109,523,671.00 8,057,656 85.97 6,325
2019 11 105,545,302.59 7,764,968 106.46 7,832
12 105,460,041.00 7,758,695 105.07 7,730
2020 109,481,758.19 8,054,573 106.17 7,811
103,926,261.35 7,645,855 98.17 7,222
89,368,790.57 6,574,862 74.66 5,493
102,390,088.18 7,532,839 80.87 5,950
108,810,908.37 8,005,219 84.46 6,214
109,523,671.00 8,057,656 85.97 6,325
103,605,422.38 7,622,251 81.71 6,011
105,420,396.51 7,755,779 84.12 6,189
102,744 ,953.95 7,558,946 80.20 5,900
10 105,906,090.58 7,791,511 82.08 6,039
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2016 28 2.70 199 | 2017 30 | 2017 2017
2017
2017 5.39 397 | 2018 29 | 2018 2018
2018
2018 4.93 363 | 2019 28 | 2019 2019
2019
2019 3.07 226 | 2020 30 | 2020 2020
2020
0.01

5.48

3.39

5.82

15.17

100x

100.00
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1,215,026 232,814 982,212
(1,215,026) (232,814) (982,212)
142,056 422,813 701,455
(142,056) (422,813) (701,455)
280,185 264,595 717,045
(280,185) (264,595) (717,045)
771,918 215,001 1,273,962
(771,918) (215,001) (1,273,962)
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CIMA
FRA
2018
FRA
infoMLRO@sumitrustgas.com
2017 DPL 2017 18
2019 30 DPL
DPL
2016 679 EU GDPR
EEA
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GDPR EEA
GDPR
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10 10
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23 103

2020 10 30
73.57
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2020 30
2020 30
2020
120,622,902 3 106,973,711 7,870,056
1,380,946 101,596
2,441,897 179,650
389,005 28,619
26,647 1,960
111,212,206 8,181,882
1,157,634 85,167
6 530,901 39,058
1,688,535 124,226
109,523,671 8,057,656
NAV

109,523,671

1,273,962 85.97 6,325

2020 12
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2020 30

2020
1,006,388 4,041,277 297,317
5,931 436
4,047,208 297,753
65,490 4,818
24,069 1,771
703,546 51,760
43,984 3,236
19,255 1,417
674,633 49,633
78,963 5,809
96,276 7,083
24,516 1,804
158,015 11,625
1,888,747 138,955
2,158,461 158,798
(3,341,868) (245,861)
(14,643,460) (1,077,319)
(17,985,328) (1,323,181)
(15,826,867) (1,164,383)
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2020 30
2020

2,158,461 158,798

(3,341,868) (245,861)

(14,643,460) (1,077,319)

(15,826,867) (1,164,383)

(3,535,032) (260,072)

72,435,441 5,329,075
(20, 386,283) (1,499,819)

52,049,158 3,829,257
32,687,259 2,404,802
76,836,412 5,652,855

109,523,671 8,057,656
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2020 30

2020
(15,826,867) (1,164,383)
(70,054,107) (5,153,881)
19,540,688 1,437,608
3,341,868 245,861
14,643,460 1,077,319
108,472 7,980
922 68
89,352 6,574
140,567 10,342
(48,015, 645) (3,532,511)
71,067,488 5,228,435
(19,450, 299) (1,430,958)
(3,535,032) (260,072)
48,082,157 3,537,404
66,512 4,893
1,314,434 96,703
1,380,946 101,596
6,852 504

4,149,749 305,297
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107.16

2.14
(18.40)

(16.26)

(4.93)

85.97

(17.10 )

(1.90 )
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2020 30

2016 29

2016 29
2016 28

GAAP
GAAP

FASB
ASC 946 -
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2020 30

2020 30

FASB
740
more likely
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ASC 480
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2020 30
AGL Energy Ltd 312,186 5,322,771 4.86
APA Group 305,303 3,398,022 3.10
ASX Ltd 20,595 1,758,401 1.61
Aurizon Holdings 542,901 2,671,073 2.44
Ausnet Services 1,050,310 1,754,018 1.60
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 279,818 5,215,808 4.76
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited 126,872 889,373 0.81
BHP Group Limited 131,295 4,702,987 4.29
Boral Limited 256,799 973,268 0.89
Charter Hall Retail 222,009 743,730 0.68
Coca-Cola Amatil 354,246 3,067,770 2.80
Coles Group Ltd 169,602 2,912,066 2.66
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 67,717 4,700,914 4.29
Dexus Property Group 40,887 376,160 0.34
GPT Group 312,733 1,304,097 1.19
GUD Holdings 65,788 757,220 0.69
GWA Group Ltd 225,966 625,926 0.57
Harvey Norman Holdings Ltd 691,893 2,449,301 2.24
Inghams Group Ltd 400,208 1,280,666 1.17
Insurance Australia Group 431,404 2,489,201 2.27
100F Holdings 441,509 2,172,224 1.98
JB Hi-Fi Ltd 85,367 3,673,342 3.35
Macquarie Group Ltd 14,112 1,673,683 1.53
Medibank Private Ltd 814,713 2,435,992 2.22
National Australia Bank 302,828 5,517,526 5.04
Nine Entertainment 1,809,826 2,497,560 2.28
Pendal Group Ltd 58,876 351,490 0.32
QBE Insurance Group 189,664 1,680,423 1.53
SCA Property Group 403,342 879,286 0.80
Scentre Group 1,314,446 2,852,348 2.60
Spark Infrastructure 1,184,862 2,559,302 2.34
Star Entertainment Group Ltd 529,767 1,504,538 1.37
Stockland NPV 1,334,183 4,416,146 4.03
Suncorp Group Ltd 309,781 2,859,279 2.61
Tabcorp Holdings Ltd 843,662 2,851,578 2.60
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2020 30

Telstra Corp 1,503,014 4,704,434 4.30
Transurban Group 109,960 1,553,735 1.42
Vicinity Centres 1,653,908 2,365,088 2.16
Viva Energy Group Ltd 1,340,532 2,439,768 2.23
Wesfarmers Ltd 60,395 2,707,508 2.47
Westpac Banking 197,386 3,543,079 3.24
Woodside Petroleum 108,655 2,352,380 2.16
Woolworths Ltd 53,386 1,990,230 1.83

120,622,902 106,973,711 97.67

AUD

76/213



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

June 30, 2020
2020

Notes ALD
Assets
Investments, fair value {(Cost: AUD120,622,902) 3 106,973,711
Cash 1,380,946
Receivable for units issued 2441 897
Dividends recetvable 389,005
Other assets 26,647
Total Assets 111,212,206
Liabilities
Payable for units repurchased 1,157,634
Fees payable 6 530,901
Total Liabilities 1,688,535
Net Assets lﬂﬂéﬂlﬁ?l

Net Asset Value (“NAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
(based on Net Assets of AUD109,523,671 and 1,273,962 units outstanding) AUDSRS 97

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustee

= =
DS A fe Lo

Date: Ol VECEMBEE Zelo
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30, 2020

2020

AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withhelding taxes AUD1,006.388) 4,041,277
Interest 5931
Total investment 1ncome 4,047,208
Expenses
Admimstration fees 65,490
Manager fees 24,069
Investment Manager fees 703,540
Audit fees 43,984
Trustee fees 19,255
Distributor fees 674,633
Transaction fees 78,963
Agent Company fees 96,276
Custodian fees 24,516
Other fees 158,015
Total find expenses 1.888,747
MNet investment income 2,158,461
Net realized and change in unrealized loss
Met realized loss on investments in securities {3,341,868)
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities {14.643.460)
Net realized and change in unrealized loss (17,985,328)
MNet decrease in Net Assets resulting from operations (15,826,867)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2020

2020
AUD
MNel decrease in Net Assets resulting from operations
MNet investrent income 2158 461
Met realized loss on investments in securities (3.341,868)
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in secunties i(14.643,460)
Met decrease in Met Assets resulting from operations {15,826,867)
Distributions to Unitholders
Class AUD Units (3.535.032)
Capital Transactions
Units issned 72,435 441
Units redeemed (20,386,283)
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from capital transactions 52,049,158
Total increase in Net Assets 32,687,259
Net Assels
Beginning of vear 76,836,412
End of year 109,523,671

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30, 2020

2020
AUD
Cash flows from operating activities
Met decrease in Met Assets resulting from operations {15826,867)
Adjustments to reconcile net decrease in Net Assets resulting from
operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Purchase of investments (70,054,107
Proceeds from sale of investments 19540 688
Met realized loss on investments in securities 3,341 868
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities 14,643 460
Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable 108,472
Decrease in interest receivable 922
Decrease in other assets 89,352
Increase in fees payable 140,567
Met cash used in operating activities (48.015,645)
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Proceeds from units issued 71,067,488
Payments for units redeemed {19, 450,299)
Distributions paid to Unitholders (3,535,032)
Met cash provided by financing activities 48082157
Met change in cash 66,512
Cash at beginning of vear 1,314,434
Cash at end of year 1,380,946
Supplementary informeation:
Interest recerved 6,852
Dividends received (net of withholding taxes) 4,149,749

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Per Unit operating performance:
MNAV per unit, beginning of vear

Income from investment operations {B)
Net investment income
MNet realized and change in unrealized loss
Total from investment operations
Less distributions
MAV per umt, end of year

Total Return (A)

Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses to average MNet Assets (A)

Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets {(A)

Class AUD
Units
AUD

107.16

2.14

{18.40)
{16.26)
4.93

8597

(17.10%)

{1.90%)

2.18%

{A) Total return is calculated based on the change in the NAV during the yvear and asswning
that all dividends are reinvested. Expense ratios and net investment income ratios are
caleulated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the vear. The financial
highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

{B) Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information is
caleulated based upon the monthly average units outstanding during the year.

The accompanyving notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2020

1. Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) is a series trust of the Offshore Strategy
Fund, an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the
“Master Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands, Australian High Dividend Equity
Fund was constituted by a supplemental trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the “Supplemental Trust
Deged™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund commenced operations on September
28, 2016,

International Management Services Ltd, (the “Manager™) serves as the Fund’s manager. The
Fund’s assets are managed on a day to day basis by Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan)
Co., Ltd. (the “Investment Manager™). The Investment Manager delegates sub-investment
management duties to Legg Mason Asset Management Australia Limited (the “Sub-Investment
Manager™). SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Adminstrator™) serves as the Fund's
administrator.

The investment objective of the Fund is to seck to obtain income gain and medium to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an exchange in
Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in secunities that are listed on an exchange,
including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention to Liquidity
and will seek to build a liqud portfolio,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G.ALS. (Cayviman)
Limited {the “Trustee™ 1s named as Trustee of the Fund.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generall v accepted in the United States of Amernica (U5, GAAP™), The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with U5, GAAP requires the Fund’s management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and lLiabilities and
disclosures of confingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results,
including the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ
from those estimates and such differences may be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the investment company
accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASE™) and
the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 946, Financial Services-Investment
Companies,

Security and contractual transactions are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis. Interest
income is recorded on an effective vield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax. Interest
expense and other expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses from
security transactions are computed using the first in first out cost method. Changes in the
valuation of investiments are recorded in the Statement of Operations as unrealized appreciation
or depreciation.

14
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following 15 a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements;

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation policy is applied in determination of the value of the Fund's
investments;

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occwrred on such day, at the
“bid”™ price at the close of business on such day. Secunties traded over the counter which are
freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination, or if no
sales occurred on such day, at the “bid™ price at the close of business on such day. In the event
the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2020 no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of quoted

prices.

Expenses
Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as incurred,

Foreign Currency Translation

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2020 assets and liabilities may be
held in currencies other than Australian Dollar (“AUD™ or the *Functional Currency™) and are
translated to the Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial
statement date. Income and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
date on which the income or expense 1s mcwrred. Realized and unrealized gains and losses
arising on foreign cwrrency transactions are included in the Statement of Operations in the year
in which they oceur.

The Fund does not 1solate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in market
prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
gain or loss from investments.

Cash

The Trustee has appointed Sumitomoe Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited {London Branch) {formerly
Sumitomo Mitsu Trust {(UK) Limited) as its Custodian. Sumitomeo Mitsu Trust Bank, Limited
{ London Branch), have in turn, appointed Brown Brothers Harmiman & Co. (“BBH™) as their
sub-custodian, Cash compnse cash with onginal matunties of 3 months or less held at BBH.

15
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

3!

Income Taxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains
or other taxes pavable by the Fund. In certain junsdictions other than the Cayman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and interest received by the Fund. Capital
gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign income
or withholding taxes at source, The Fund intends to conduet its affairs such that it will not be
subject to income tax in any junsdiction. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been
madz in the financial statements. Unitholders may be taxed on their proportionate share of the
Fund’s tax basis income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncertaintyin
tax positions (FASE Accounting Standards Codification 740}, which requires management to
determine whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authonty, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recogmized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority, The
Investment Manager has determined that there 1s no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters into
contracts that contain a vanety of representations, which provide general indemnifications. The
Fund’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not vet occurred.

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Charactenstics of Both
Liabilities and Equity”, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount and number of
units requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may ocour at the time
of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal period, depending on the nature of the
request. Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of
gains/(losses) pursuant to the Fund’s govemning documents. As at June 30, 2020, there were
redemptions pavable of AUDI1,157,634.

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
ASC B20, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”, provides additional guidance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for

the asset or liability have sigmficantly decreased and provides guidance on identifving
circumstances that indicate a transaction 1s not orderly.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value, The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted listed prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest
prionty to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements),

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level 1 - Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active,

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the vanous valuation techniques and broadly refer to the
assumptions that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions
about risk. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value herarchy 15 based on the lowest
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment Manager
considers observable data to be that market data which s readily available, regularly distributed
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that
are actively involved in the relevant market, The categonization of a financial instrument within
the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessanly
correspond to the Investment Manager's perceived risk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2.

As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded inactive markets and/or are subject
to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect ilhiquidity andfor non-
transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trads
infrequently or not at all.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

J. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

The following table presents the investment in the Fund camed on the Statement of Assets
and Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2020;

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assels AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 106,973,711 - 106,973,711
Total 106,973,711 - - 106,973,711

There were no transfers between the levels during the vear.

4. Unit Capital

Class AUD

Units

Mumber of units outstanding at July 1, 2019 717,045
Units issued during the vear 771,918
Units redeemed during the vear (215.001)
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2020 1,273,962

The Units are denominated in Australian Dollars. Additional classes of Umts may be offered
in the future. Class AUD Units are available to an eligible investor who is any person,
corporation or entity which is not (i) a citizen or resident of the US, a partnership organized
or existing in the US, or any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or
existing in the US; (i1} resident or domiciled in the Cavman Islands (excluding any object of
a charitable trust or power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman [slands company’); (iii)
unable to subscribe for or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or (iv) a custodian,
nominee, or trustee for any person, corporation or entity described in (i) to {iii) above.

The Manager may determine to issue one or more classes of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unithalders.

One unitholder holds all of the Units attributable to Class AUD Units.

Class AUD Units were first issued at an initial issue price of AUD100 per Unit. The mininmumn
subscription amount per subscriber in respect of each class of unit is ten units, and
subscriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unitholders, the purchase price per unit will be the

MAV per Unit of the relevant class of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription dav and rounded naturally to two decimal places.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital {continued)

The subscription day for the Fund shall be cach business day and’or such other day or days
that the Manager may from time to ime determing in respect of the Fund,

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of umtholders (i) in the case of the
umtholder who is requesting umts to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributor appointed
by the Manager, by no later than 7.00pm {Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to units in respect of which the unitholder (being
the relevant distnbutor) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm
{Tokyo tume) on the same day; or (ii) in the case of a umtholder requesting wmts to be
repurchased directly (and not as a distnbutor appointed by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm
{ Tokvo time) on the relevant repurchase day, or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee
and the Manager. after consultation with the Administrator, may in any particular case
determine.

The repurchase day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or days that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

At anv time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days” notice to all
or any affected umtholders, repurchase units of the Fund at the apphicable repurchase price,

The WAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund’s assets
and liabilities (including accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Units outstanding,

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distnbutions in respect of any class
of units of such amount (if any) as shall be determined by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital attributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distnbution date will be the next business day after the last business day of June every

penod and'or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Distribution Record
Date™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the period was on the last busingss day of Juns 2019,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amounts. Dividends of AUD3,535,032 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2019} were paid
on July 4, 2019,

The second Distnbution Record Date of the period was on the last business day of June 2020,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such

amounts. Dividends of AUD3 911,063 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2020} were paid
on July 6, 2020.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions,
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Trustee and related companies are deemed to be related to the Fund.
Fees incurred with related parties during the vear are disclosed in the Statement of Operations,
Amounts pavable to related parties at the vear end are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities,

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per annum of the
MAV, accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

The Administrator is also entitled to; (a) an establishment fee of US$5,000; (b) an annual fee
of US$5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of the
finanecial statements of the Fund; (¢) an anmual fee of USS 1,000 in connection with filing the
audited accounts of the Fund with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority; and (d) an annual
fee of US$500 in commection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per anmum of the NAV,
accruad and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the NAV, accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Sub-Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be payable out of the Fund.

Trustee Fees

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annmum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and pavable monthly in arrears.

Distributor Fees

The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

6. Fees and Expenses (continued)
Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
MWAV, accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.
Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the WAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fees payable as at June 30, 2020 are as follows:

AUD

Administration fees 12,950
Manager fees 2,255
Investment Manager fees 186,794
Audit fees 42,211
Trustes fees 1.804
Distributor fees 179,118
Transaction fees 18,772
Agent Company fees 25,573
Custodian fees 6,810
Other fees 54,614
530,901

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund’s activities expose it to a varety of financial nsks: market nsk (including price nisk,
interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market Risk
All investments present a nisk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this nsk
through a careful selection of securities and other financial instruments.

The Fund's investment management process is described in Mote 1. The primary determinant
of the Fund’s ability to meet its objective of achieving income gain and capital appreciation
over the mid to long term is based on its investment strategy of investing in a portfolio of
equities and REITs that are listed on an exchange in Australia. The Fund’s overall market
positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Fund’s Investment Manager.

The value of the Fund's investments are affected by a mumber of factors, including but not
limited to, changes in the wider economy, financial and currency markets and foreign currency

exchange rates.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

7. OMT Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Market Risk (continued)

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may decling, and
as a result, the NAV may decline below its initial principal amount, Also, adverse
developments in an 1ssuer's econommic conditions or such negative events as bankruptey may
cause the value of the equuties to decline substantially and may significantly impact the NAV,

Credit Risk

Credit nsk represents the potenhial loss that the Fund would incur 1f the counterparhies failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund. For exchange-traded
contracts, the exchange acts as the counterparty to specific transactions and, therefore, bears
the nisk of delivery to and from counterparties of specific positions.

Although the Manager monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropnate custodian,
there is no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from time to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure, insolvency
or liquidation of an institution, there 1s no certainty that, in the event of a falure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of time, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both. Because
all of the Fund’s cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could matenally impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. The
Fund 15 subject to credit risk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its
obligations to repay amounts owed.

Liquidity Risk

Investors should be aware that the value of umits might fall as well as nse. Investment in the
Fund involves a degree of nisk; there can be no assurance that the Fund’s investment objective
will be achieved.

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management believes that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, if necessary, the liguidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropriately
reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored continually by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.

The Manager, after consultation with the Investment Manager, may declare a suspension of
the repurchase of units in certain circumstances as descnbed in the section of the Offering

Memorandum headed “Valuations - Suspension of [ssues, Repurchases and Caleulation of Met
Asset Value™,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2020
{Continued)

7. OMT Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Liquidity Risk (continued)

Beginning in January 2020, global financial markets have experienced and may continue to
expenience significant volatility resulting from the spread of a novel coronavirus known as
COVID-19, The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in travel and border restmctions,
quarantines, supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand and general market
uncertainty, The effects of COVID-19 have and may continue to adversely affect the global
economy, the economies of certain nations and individual issuers, all of which may negatively
impact the Fund’s performance.

Currency Risk

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2020, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and held monetary and non-monetary assets and
incur monetary and non-mongtary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. Itmay
therefore be exposed to currency nsk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its exposure to currency nsk.

If investing in the secunties of companies that are denominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund mav be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reportad value of those securities.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
As at June 30, 2020 the Fund had no commitments or contingencies.

9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to December 1, 2020, which is the date
the financial statements were available to be 1ssued.

Effective July 1, 2020 through to December 1, 2020 there were subscriptions of
AUD15,511,001 into the Fund and redemptions of AUD18,542,683 from the Fund.

Management concludad that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved on December 1, 2020,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2020
Fair

Nominal Value % of
Equities Holding AUD NAY

Australia
AUD AGL Energy Ltd 312186 5,322,771 4.86
APA Group 305,303 3,398,022 310
ASY Ltd 20,595 1,758,401 1.61
Aurizon Holdings 542,901 2,671,073 2.44
Ausnet Services 1,050,310 1.754.018 1.60
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group ~ 279.818 5,215,808 4.76
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited 126,872 880,373 0.81
BHP Group Limited 131,295 4,702,987 4.29
Boral Limited 256,799 973,268 0.89
Charter Hall Retail 222,000 743,730 0.68
Coca-Cola Amatil 354,246 3,067,770 2.80
Coles Group Litd 169,602 2,912,066 2,60
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 67,717 4,700,914 429
Diexus Property Group 40,887 376,160 0.34
GPT Group 312,733 1,304,007 1.19
GUD Holdings 65,788 757,220 0.69
GWA Group Ltd 225,966 625,926 0.57
Harvey Norman Holdings Ltd 691,893 2,449,301 2.24
Inghams Group Ltd 400,208 1,280,666 1.17
Insurance Australia Group 431,404 2,489,201 2.27
IO0F Holdings 441,509 2,172,224 1.98
JB Hi-Fi Ltd 85,367 3,673,342 335
Macquarie Group Ltd 14,112 1,673,683 1.53
Medibank Private Ltd 814,713 2,435,992 2.22
Mational Australia Bank 302,828 5,517,526 5.04
Mine Entertainment 1,809,826 2,497,560 228
Pendal Group Ltd SBBT6 351,490 0.32
QEBE Insurance Group 189,664 1,680,423 1.53
SCA Property Group 403,342 879,286 0.80
Scentre Group 1,314,446 2,852 348 2.60
Spark Infrastructure 1,184,862 2,550,302 2.34
Star Entertainment Group Litd 529,767 1,504,538 1.37
Stockland NPV 1,334,183 4,416,146 4.03
Suncorp Group Ltd 309,781 2,850,279 2.61
Tabeorp Holdings Lid 843 662 2,851,578 2.60

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2020

(Continued)
Fair
Nominal Value %o of
Equities (continued) Holding AUD NAV
Australia (continued)
Telstra Corp 1.503.014 4,704,434 4.30
Transurban Group 109,960 1,553,735 1.42
Vicinity Centres 1,633,908 2,365,088 216
Viva Energ}r Gro-up Ltd 1,340,532 2,439 ToB 223
Wesfarmers Ltd 6,395 2,707,508 247
ﬂ-’es{mc Hmﬂ{jng |':;'-.'r,3gﬁ 3,5 43,{] 79 324
Woodside Petrolewmn 108,655 2,352 380 2.16
Woolworths Lid 53,386 1,990,230 1.83
Total Australia (Cost: AUD120,622,902) 106,973,711 97.67
Syvmbol Currency Country
AL Australian Dollar Australia

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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2019 30
2019 30
2019
73,555,406 3 74,549,675 5,484,620
1,314,434 96,703
5,172 381
1,073,944 79,010
497,477 36,599
922 68
115,999 8,534
77,557,623 5,705,914
109,227 8,036
221,650 16,307
6 390,334 28,717
721,211 53,059
76,836,412 5,652,855
NAV
76,836,412

717,045 107.16 7,884

2019 11 19
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2019 30
2019
1,012,824 3,888,238 286,058
10,806 795
3,899,044 286,853
51,199 3,767
18,207 1,339
531,032 39,068
34,542 2,541
14,566 1,072
509,208 37,462
33,693 2,479
72,829 5,358
18,207 1,339
135,078 9,938
1,418,561 104,364
2,480,483 182,489
687,326 50,567
1,616,555 118,930
2,303,881 169,497

4,784,364 351,986
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2019

2,480,483
687,326
1,616,555
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182,489
50,567
118,930

4,784,364

351,986

(3,780,842)

28,402,418
(27,178,181)

(278,157)

2,089,566
(1,999,499)

1,224,237

90,067

2,227,759

74,608,653

163,896

5,488,959

76,836,412

5,652,855
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2019 30
2019
4,784,364 351,986
(21,491,152) (1,581,104)
23,469,882 1,726,679
(687,326) (50,567)
(1,616,555) (118,930)
137,784 10,137
345 25
51,830 3,813
30,626 2,253
4,679,798 344,293
27,624,857 2,032,361
(28,062, 355) (2,064,547)
(3,780,842) (278,157)
(4,218,340) (310,343)
461,458 33,949
852,976 62,753
1,314,434 96,703
11,152 820

4,026,023 296,195
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106.36

3.42
2.77

6.19

(5.39)

107.16

6.13

(1.95 )

3.40
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2016 29

2016 29
2016 28

GAAP
GAAP

FASB
ASC 946 -
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2019 30

2019 30

FASB
740
more likely
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than not

ASC 480
ASC 480

2019 30

ASC 820
ASC 820

221,650
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ASC 820

ASC 820
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74,549,675 74,549,675
74,549,675 74,549,675
2018 701,455
280,185
(264,595)
2019 30 717,045
100

10 10
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2018

3,780,842 2018 2018

2019

3,535,032 2019 2019
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0.025

2019 30

11,187
1,657
143,183
39,052
1,325
137,299
7,620
19,699
1,644
27,668
390,334
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2019 30

2019 11 19
2019 2019 11 19 30,173,167
6,475,873

2019 11 19
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

June 30, 2019
2019

Notes AUD
Aszels
Inwvestments, fair value (Cost AUD7T3,555,408) 3 74,549,675
Cash 1,314,434
Receivable for investments sold 5172
Receivable for units issued 1,073,944
Dividends receivable 497 477
Interest receivable 922
Orther assets 115,999
Total Assets 77.557,623
Liabilities
Payable for investments purchased 109,227
Payable for units repurchased 221,650
Fees payable 6 390,334
Tuotal Liabilities 721,211
MNet Assels 76,836,412
Net Asset Value (“NMAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
{based on Net Assets of AUDT6,836.412 and 717.045 units outstanding) AUDIOT. 16

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the Trustes

e ety e i

Date: 19" November 2019
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30, 2019

2019

AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes AUD1,012,824) 3,888,238
Interest 10,806
Total invesiment income 3,899,044
Expenses
Administration fees 51,199
Manager fees 18,207
Investment Manager fees 331,032
Audit fees 34,542
Trustee fees 14,566
Distributor fees 506208
Transaction fees 33,693
Agent Company fees 72,820
Custodian fees 18,207
Other fees 135,078
Total fund expenses 1,418,561
Met investment income 2,480,483
MNet realized and change in unrealized gain
Met realized gain on investmenis in securities 687,326
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities 1,616,555
Met realized and change in unrealized gain 2,303,881
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,784,364

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2019

2019
AUD
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations
Met investment income 2,480 483
MNet realized gain on investments in securities GR7,326
Net change in unrealized appreciation on invesimenis in securiiies 1,616,555
Met inerease in Net Asseis resulting from operations 4,784,364
Distributions to Unitholders
Class AUD Units {3.780.842)
Capital Transactions
Units issued 28,402,418
Units redeemed _(27.178,181)
Net increase in Met Assets resulting from capital transactions 1,224,237
Total increase in Net Assels 2,227,759
Met Assets
Beginning of vear 74.608,653
End of yvear 76,836,412

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the vear ended June 30, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Adjustments 1o reconcile net increase in Net Assets resulling from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments

Met realized gain on investments in securities

Net change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities

Chunge in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable

Decrease in interest receivable

Decrease in other assets

Increase in fees payable

Met cash provided by operating activitics
Cash flows used in fin ancing activities
Proceeds from units issued

Payments for units redeemed
Distributions paid to Unitholders

Net cash used in financing activities

Met change in cash
Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end of year
Supplementary information:

Interast received
Dividends received (net of withholding taxes)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUD

4,784,384

(21,491,152)
23,469,882

(687.326)

(1.616,555)

137.784
345
51,830
30,626

4,679.798
27624857
(28,062,355)
(3,780.842)
{4.218.340)

461,458

852,976

1,314,434

11,152
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Class AUD
Units
AUD
Per Unit operating performance:
NAV per unit. beginning of year 106.36
Income from investment operations (B)
et investment income 3.42
et realized and change in unrealized gain 277
Total from investment operations 6.19
Less distributions (539
MAVY per unit, end of vear 107.16
Total Return (A) 6.13%
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses 1o average Mel Asseis (A) ) (1.93%)
Ratio of net investment income 1o average Net Azsets (A) 3.40%

(A) Total return is caleulated based on the change in the NAV during the year and assuming
that all dividends are reinvested. Expense ratios and net investment income ralios are
calculated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the vear. The financial
highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B} Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information is
calculated based upon the monthly average units outstanding during the yvear.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2019

1. Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund'™) is a series irust of the Qffshore Strategy
Fund, an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the
“Master Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Australian High Dividend Equity
Fund was constituted by a supplemental trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the “Supplemental Trust

Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund commenced operations on September
28. 2014,

International Management Services Lid. (the “Manager™) serves as the Fund's manager, The
Fund’s assets are managed on a day to day basis by Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan)
Co., Lud. (the “Investment Manager”). The Investment Manager delegates sub-investment
management dutics to Legg Mason Assel Management Australia Limited (the “Sub-Investment
Manager”). SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administralor™) serves as the Fund's
administrator.

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek to obtain income gain and medium to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an exchange in
Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securities that are listed on an exchange,
including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention 1o liquidity
and will seek to build a liquid portfolio.

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G.A.5. (Cayman)
Limited (the “Trustee™) is named as Trustee of the Fund,

2. Sommary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“UU.8, GAAP™). The preparation
of financial stalements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the Fund's management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounis of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results,
including the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ
from those estimates and such differences may be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the investment company
accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") and
the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 946, Financial Services-Investment
Companies.

Security and contractual transaclions are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis. Interest
income is recorded on an effective yield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax. Interest
expense and other expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses from
security transactions are computed using the first in first owt cost method. Changes in the
valuation of investmenis are recorded in the Statement of Operations as unrealized appreciation
or depreciation.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

MNotes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
(Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements:

Valuation of Investments
The following valuastion policy is applied in determination of the wvalue of the Fund's
investments:

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occurred on such day, at the
“bid” price at the close of business on such day. Securities traded over the counter which are
frecly transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination. or if no
sales occurred on such day, at the “bid” price at the close of business on such day. In the event
the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued al their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2019 no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of quoted
prices.

Expenses

Expenses are recorded on an aceruals basis as incurred,

Foreign Currency Translation

Although having not done so during the year ended June 30, 2019 assets and liabilities may be
held in currencies ather than Australian Dollar ("AUD" or the “Functional Currency™) and are
translated to the Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial
statement date. Income and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
date on which the income or expense is incurred. Realized and unrealized gains and losses
arising on foreign currency transactions are included in the Statement of Operations in (he vear
in which they occur.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreipn exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in market
prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
aain or loss from investments.

Cash
The Trustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited as its Custodian. Sumitomao
Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited, have in wurn, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH™)

as their sub-custodian. Cash comprise cash with original maturities of 3 months or less held at
BBH.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Income Taxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income. withholding, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Fund. In certain jurisdictions other than the Cayman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and intercst reccived by the Fund. Capital
gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign income
or withholding taxes at source. The Fund intends to conduet its affairs such that it will not be
subject to income tax in any jurisdiction. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been
made in the financial statements. Unitholders may be taxed on their proportionate share of the
Fund's tax basis income based on their individual circumstances,

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncertainty in
tax positions (FASB Accounting Standards Codification 740), which requires management to
determine whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be suslained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority. including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The
Investment Manager has determined that there is no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund. enters into
contracts that contain a variety of representations, which provide general indemnifications. The
Fund’s maximuwm exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not vet oceurred,

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accomnting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both
Liabilities and Equity”, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount and number of
units requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may occur at the time
of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal peried, depending on the nature of the
request. Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of
gains/(losses) pursuant to the Fund’s governing documents. As at June 30, 2019, there were
redemptions payable of AUD221,650.

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
ASC 820, “Fair Value Measuremenis and Disclosures”, provides additional guidance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for

the asset or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance on identifving
circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

3.  Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted listed prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level | measurements) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC B20 are as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the
assumptions that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions
about risk. A financial instrument’s Tevel within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment Manager
considers observahle data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that
are actively involved in the relevant market. The categorization of a financial instrument within
the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily
correspond to the Investment Manager’s perceived risk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2.

As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject
1o transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-
transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

Invesiments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade
infrequently or not at all,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2019

(Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Statement of Assets
and Liabilities by Jevel within the valuasion hierarchy as of June 30, 2019:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 74,549 K73 - - 74,549,673
Taotal 74,549,675 - - 74,549,675

There were no transfers between the levels during the year,

. Unit Capital

Class AUD

Units

Number of units outstanding at Julv 1, 2018 701,455

Units issued during the year 280,185
Uinits redeemed during the year (264.595)

Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2019 717,045

The Units are denominated in Australian Dollars. Additional classes of Units may be offered
in the future. Class AUD Units are available 1o an eligible investor who is any person.
corporation or entity which is not (i) a citizen or resident of the US, a parinership organized
or existing in the US, or any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or
existing in the US,; {ii) resident or domiciled in the Cayman Islands (excluding any object of
a charitable trust or power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company); (iif)
unable to subsenibe for or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or {iv) a custodian,
nominee, or trustee lor any person, corporation or entity described in (1) to (i) above,

The Manager may determine to issue one or more classes of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unitholders.

One unitholder holds all of the Units attributable to Class AUD Units,

Class AUD Units were first issued at an initial issue price of AUD100 per Unit. The minimum
subscription amount per subseriber in respect of each class of unit is ten umits, and
subscriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unitholders, the purchase price per unit will be the

NAY per Unit of the relevant class of units on the valvation day falling on the relevant
subscription day and rounded naturally to two decimal places.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital {vontinued)

The subscription day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or days
that the Manager may from time to time detexmine in respect of the Fund.

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders (i) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributor appointed
by the Manager. by no later than 7.00pm (Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to uniis in respect of which the unitholder (being
the relevant distributor) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm
{Tokyo time) on the same day; or (i} in the case of a unitholder requesting units to be
repurchased directly (and not as a distributor appointed by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm
{Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day; or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee
and the Manager, after consultation with the Administrator, may in any particular case
determine.

The Repurchase Day for the lund shall be each business day and/or such other dav or days
that the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Ar any time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days® notice to all
or any affected unitholders, repurchase units of the Fund at the applicable repurchase price.

The NAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund’s assets
and liabilities (including accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Uinits outstanding.

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any class
of units of such amount (if anv) as shall be determined by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital atiributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distribution date will be the next business day after the [ast business day of June every
period and/or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Disiribution Record
Date™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the period was on the last business day of June 2018,
There is no guarantee that any fulure distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amaounts. Dividends of AUD3,780,842 (with an ex-dividend date of July 2, 2018) were paid
on July 5, 2018.

The second Distribution Record Date of the period was on the last business day of June 2019,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such

amounts. Dividends of AUD3,535,032 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2019) were paid
on July 4. 2019,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
There were no transactions with related partics other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Trustee and related companics are deemed to be related to the Fund.
Fees incurred with related parties during the vear are disclosed in the Statement of Operations.
Amounts payable to related parties at the vear end are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities.

6, Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per annum of the
NAV, accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears,

The Administrator is also entitled to; (a) an establishment fee of USS$5,000; (b) an annual fee
of US$5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of the
financial statements of the Fund: (¢} an annual fee of USE1,000 in connection with filing the
audited accounts of the Fund with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority; and (d} an annual
fee of US$500 in connection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears,

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the NAV, accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Sub-lovestment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Invesiment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable cut-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investiment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be payable out of the Fund.

Trustee Fees

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

Distributor Fees

The Distributor receives oul of the assets of the Fund. a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAV,
acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2019

(Continued)
6. Fees and Expenses (continued)
Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
NAV, accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fees payable as at June 30, 2019 are as follows:

AUD

Administration fees 11,187
Manager fees 1,657
Investment Manager fees 143,183
Audit fees 39,052
Trustee fees 1,325
Distributor fees 137,294
Transaction fees T.620
Agent Company fees 19,699
Custodian fees 1,644
Other lees 27,668
390,334

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market Risk
All investiments present a risk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this risk
through a careful selection of securities and other financial instruments.

The Fund's investment management process is described in Note 1. The primary determinant
of the Fund’s ability ic meet its objective of achieving income gain and capital appreciation
over the mid to long term is based on its investment strategy of investing in a portfolio of
equities and REITs that are listed on an exchange in Avstralia. The Fund's overall market
positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Fund’s Investment Manager.

The value of the Fund's investments are affected by a number of factors, including but not

limited to, changes in the wider economy, financial and currency markets and foreign currency
exchange rates,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Market Risk (continued)

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may decline; and
as a result, the MAV may decline below its initial principal amount. Also, adverse
developments in an issuer’s economic conditions or such negative events as bankruptey may
cause the value of the equities to decline substantially and may significantly impact the NAV.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would ineur if the counterparties failed
1o perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund. For exchange-raded
contracts, the exchange acts as the counterparty to specific transactions and, therefore, bears
the risk of delivery to and from counterparties of specific positions.

Although the Manager monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropriate custodian,
there is no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from time to time, will
not become insolvent. the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure, insolveney
or liquidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of time, ultimately less than full recovery of'its assets, or both. Because
all of the Fund's cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its invesiment objective. The
Fund is subject to credit risk 1o the extent that this institution may be unable w futfill s
ohligations (o repay amounts owed,

Liquidity Risk

Investors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as rise. Investment in the
Fund involves a degree of risk; there can be no assurance that the Fund's investment objective
will be achieved,

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management helieves that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, if necessary. the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropriately
reflecting a smaller capital base, This position is monitored continually by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.

Currency Risk

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2019, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and hold monetary and non-monetary assets and
incur monetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. It may
therefore be exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its exposure o currency risk.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
(Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks {continued)
Currency Risk {continued)
If investing in the securities of companies that are denominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of those securities,

8. Commitments and Contingencies
As at June 30, 2019 the Fund had no commitments or confingencies.

9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to November 19, 2019, which is the
date the financial statements were available 1o be issued.

Effective July 1, 2019 through to MNovember 19, 2019 there were subscriptions of
AUDSE0,173,167 into the Fund and redemptions of AUDG,475,873 from the Fund,

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved on November 19, 2019,
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2020 10
107,102,541.60 7,879,533,986
1,196,451.02 88,022,902
105,906,090.58 7,791,511,084
1,290,241
82.08 6,039
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2019 12 31

2019 2018

1,362,151 142,481 1,418,614 148,387

5 7 914,653 95,673 982,827 102,804
137,732 14,407 112,528 11,770
12 93,094 9,738 157,411 16,465

2,507,630 262,298 2,671,380 279,426

8 292,561 30,602 337,104 35,261
10 334,905 35,031
627,466 65,633 337,104 35,261

3,135,096 327,931 3,008,484 314,687

133,035 13,915 137,255 14,357
6 709,440 74,207 735,961 76,982
10 213,578 22,340

490,217 51,277 533,732 55,828

811,251 84,857 951,536 99,531

2,357,521 246,597 2,358,484 246,697

10 127,575 13,344
127,575 13,344

9 50,000 5,230 50,000 5,230
600,000 62,760 600,000 62,760
650,000 67,990 650,000 67,990

3,135,096 327,931 3,008,484 314,687
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
6 10,015,654 1,047,637 9,990,854 1,045,043
7 (126,731)  (13,256) (80, 230) (8,392)

9,888,923 1,034,381 9,910,624 1,036,651

512,319 53,589 330,831 34,605
61,113 6,392 53,195 5,564
10 11 (7,017,990)  (734,082) (6,949,592)  (726,927)

3,444,365 360,281 3,345,058 349,893

3,444,365 360,281 3,345,058 349,893
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2019 12 31

2017 12 31 50,000 5,230 600,000 62,760 650,000 67,990
3,345,058 349,893 3,345,058 349,893
(3,345,058) (349,893) (3,345,058) (349,893)
2018 12 31 50,000 5,230 600,000 62,760 650,000 67,990
IFRS 16 (2,003) (210) (2,003) (210)

2019
50,000 5,230 597,997 62,550 647,997 67,780
3,444,365 360,281 3,444,365 360,281
(3,442,362) (360,071) (3,442,362) (360,071)
2019 12 31 50,000 5,230 600,000 62,760 650,000 67,990
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2019 12 31

2019 2018

3,444,365 360,281 3,345,058 349,893

248,817 26,026 39,747 4,158
68,174 7,131 (441,582)  (46,189)
(25,204) (2,636) (19,315) (2,020)
64,317 6,728 42,696 4,466
(4,220) (441) (41,213) (4,311)
(26,521) (2,774) (6,065) (634)
(43,515) (4,552) 143,563 15,017

3,726,213 389,762 3,062,889 320,378

(33,640) (3,519)
7,246 758 11,984 1,254

7,246 758 (21,656) (2,265)

(3,582,647)  (374,745) (3,023,759)  (316,285)
(207,275)  (21,681)

(3,789,922)  (396,426) (3,023,759)  (316,285)

(56,463) (5,906) 17,474 1,828

1,418,614 148,387 1,401,140 146,559

1,362,151 142,481 1,418,614 148,387
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2019 IFRS
(IFRS )
IFRS 16
IFRS 16
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IFRIC SIC
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IFRS 16
IFRS 16 IFRS 16
2019 IAS 17 IFRS 16
IAS 17 IFRS 16
2018 12 31 2019
546,424 546,424
546,424 546,424
207,274 207,274
341,153 341,153

548,427 548,427
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2018 12 31 2018
2019
2018 12 31 854,530
(283,893)
570,637
(22,210)
2019 IFRS 16 548,427
SH 2001 20
A.S. * 1978 27
N.D. : 1978 27
N.S. - 1978 27
* 1979 10 26
INS 2012 27
INS 2013 25
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2019 2019 2018 2018
0 30 282,381 (23,746) 317,122 (3,133)
31 60 49,882 (6,574) 81,707 (1,236)
61 90 56,610 (12,011) 12,666 (311)
91 842,771 (274,660) 734,282 (158,270)

1,231,644 (316,991) 1,145,777 (162,950)
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2020 2018 2010 2020
2020
40 50
2019 2018
9,113,418 8,761,939
464,185 610,148
438,051 618,767
10,015,654 9,990,854
2019 2018
(640, 290) (605,299)

2019 605,229 2018 :644,523
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2019 12 31 IFRS 15
2019 2018
1,231,644 1,145,777
(316,991) (162,950)
914,653 982,827
2019 2018
162,950 171,061
126,731 80,230
(22,880)
27,310 (65,461)
316,991 162,950
2019

341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340
(9,406) (9,406)
341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
181,790 358,853 172,710 90,884 804,237
4,099 17,083 8,781 7,335 37,298
(2,162) (2,162)
185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373

2019 12 31
155,748 19,316 58,325 58,672 292,561
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2018
341,637 399,545 236,413 156,891 1,134,486
14,268 19,372 33,640
(10,817)  (15,969) (26,786)
341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340
177,692 346,243 171,807 83,549 779,291
4,008 20,558 7,756 7,335 39,747
(7,948) (6,854) (14,802)
181,790 358,853 172,709 90,884 804,236
2018 12 31
159,847 44,143 67,107 66,007 337,104
2019 2018
80,000 96,000 96,000
41,667 50,000 50,000
10
2019

334,905

145/213



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 2018
213,578
127,575
11
2019 12 31
113,355 2018 116,247
12
2019 12 31
2019 2018
464,186 610,148
IMS 116,239 115,981
2019 2018
93,094 154,711
2019 12 31 4,464,445 2018
4,245,139 88,356 2018 91,120
13
2019 12 31

2018
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dolfars)

MNote 2019 2018
Assels
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,362,151 1,418,614
Accounts receivable 57 914,653 982,827
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 137,732 112,528
Due from affiliated companies 12 93,094 157,411
2,507.630 2,671,380
Non-current assets
Property. plant and equipment 8 292 561 337,104
Right-of-nse asset 10 334,905 -
627,466 337,104
Total assets USs 3,135,095 3,008,484
Liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Current liabilities
Accounls payable and accrued expenses 133,035 137,255
Unearned income and payable Lo clients 6 709,440 735,961
Leaze liability ] 213,578 -
Staff bonuses payable 490,217 533,732
Dividends payable 811,251 951,536
2,357,521 2,358,484
Non-current liabilities
Lease Liability 10 127,573 -
127,575 -
Shareholder’'s equity
Share capital 9 50,000 50,000
Retained earmings 500,000 600,000
650,000 650,000
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity USs  3,135.095 3,008,484

See accompanving notes to consolidated financial sfatements.

Approved on behalf of the Board on 30 March | 2020

-~ o /
Y
£ = > Director
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dolfars)

Mote 2019 2018
Income

Revenne 6 10,015,654 9.990,854
Less: Bad and doubtful debts 7 (126,731) (80.230)

9.588923 9.910,624

Other income 512,319 330,831

Rental income 61.113 53,195
Administration expenses 10,11 (7.017.990) (6,949 592

Results fTrom operating activities 3444 365 3,345,058

Net income for year Uss 3,444 365 3,345,058

See accompanying notes 1o consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equty

Year ended December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dollars)

Share Retaned

capital eAIMInNgs Total
Balance at December 31, 2017 50,000 H00,000 650,000
Met income for year - 3,345,058 3,345,058
Dividends declared - (3,345058) (3,345,058)
Balance at December 31, 2018 50,000 600,000 650,000
Adjustment from the adoption of [FES 16 - (2,003) {2,003)
Adjusted balance at January 1, 2019 50,000 597,997 647,997
Net income for year - 3444365 3444365
Dividends declared - (3442362) (3.442.362)
Balance at December 31, 2019 1SS 50,000 600,000 650,000

See accompanying notes te consolidated financial statements.
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INTERENATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dolfars)

2019 2018
Operating activities
Met income for year 3,444 365 3,345,058
Add/(dednet):
Items not affecting the movement of cash:
Depreciation 248817 30,747
Net changes in non-cash balances relating to operations:
Accounts receivable 68,174 (441,582
Other receivables and prepaid expenses (25,204) (19.315)
Due from affiliated companies 64,317 42,696
Accounts pavable and accrued expenses (4,220} (41,213
Unearned income and payable to clients {26,521) {6,065)
Staff bonuses payable {43,515) 143,563
Met cash provided by operating activities 3,726,213 3,062,889
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets - (33.640)
Loss on disposal of assets 7,246 11,984
et cash provided by /{used in) investing activities 7,246 (21.656)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (3,582,647) (3.023,759)
Repayment of lease liabilities (207.275) -
Net cash used in financing activities (3,789.,922) (3,023,759)
(Decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents during year (36.463) 17,474
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 1418614 1,401,140
Cash and cash equivalents end of year Uss 1,362,151 1.415.614

See accompanying notes 1o consolidated financial statements.
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INTERENATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dolfars)

1. Incorporation and background information

nternational Management Services Ltd. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Companies
Law (2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on August 30, 1974 and provides company and
insurance management and corporate secretarial services. On December 12, 1985, the Company
was licensed under Section 4 (5) of The Companies Management Law (2018 Revision) to carry on
the business of company management in or within the Cayman Islands. On May 13, 1988, the
Company was licensed under Section 4 (2) of The Insurance Law 2010, to carry on the business of
insurance management in or within the Cayman Islands. On July 27, 1994, the Company was
licensed under Section 12 of The Mutual Funds Law (2020 Revision) to carry on the business of
mutual fund administration. OnJune 7, 2004 the Company was licensed under the Banks and Trust
Companies Law (2020 Revision), to camy on trust business from within the Cayman Islands. On
December 28, 2006, the Company surrendered its Companies Management Licence.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The IMS Group Ltd., a company also incorporated
in the Cayman Islands.

The financial results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Group™) are
consolidated at vear end to form the Group.

The registered office of the Company is 3 Floor Harbour Centre, George Town, P.O. Box 61, Grand
Cayman KY 1-1102, Cayman [slands.

The Group had 27 emplovees as at December 31, 2019 (2018:; 28),

2. Basis of presentation
(a} Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements are prepared and approved by the Directors in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“[FRS") as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“TASB™).

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
i satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast a significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

b} Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial assets and financial liabilities which are measured at amortised cosi.

fc} Functional and presentation curvency

The Group's functional and presentation currency is the United States dollar and not the local
currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Group’s operations are primarily
conducted in United States dollars (U S8).
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2. Basis of presentation (continued)
(dy Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reponted amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the year, Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

fel Corresponding figures
Cerntain prior vear amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current vear presentation.
(fi New Standards effective for ammual period begimming 1 January 2019

New standards and amendments effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2019 include
IFRS @ Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9). The
adoption of this amendment has no significant impact to the Company. JFRS 16 Leases has also
been adopted and the nature and impact of this new standard i= described below.

3. Changes in significant accounting policies
fa) IFRS 16, Leases

This standard replaces [AS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 "Leases’ replaces IAS 17 'Leases’ along with
three Interpretations ([FRIC 4 "Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’. 5IC 15
*Operating Leases-Incentives” and SIC 27 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease’ ).

A lease is defined as “a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the
underlying asset) for a period in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group
assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

{1} the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract
or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the
Grougy,

(1} the Group has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope
of the contract;

{fif} the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.
The Group assess whether it has the right to direct *how and for what purpose’ the asset is
used throughout the period of use,
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3. Changesinsignificant accounting policies (conti nued)

fey IFR.S 16, Leases fcontinued)

The adoption of thiz new Standard has resulted in the Group recogniging a right-of-use as=set and
related lease liability in conmection with all former operating lease of its current premises at 3™
floor Harbour Centre, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands,

The new Standard has been applied using the modified retrospective approach, with the
cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 being recogmsed in equity as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained eamings for the current period. Prior periods have not been restated.

On transition to I[FRS 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease
liabilities recognised under IFR S 16 was 3%,

The following i= a reconciliation of the financial statement line items from [AS 17 to IFRS 16 at 1
Janumary 2019

IAS 17 carrying  Remeasurement IFRS 16 carrying

amount at 31 amount at 1

December 2018 January 2019
Non-current assets
Right-of-use asset - 6,424 546,424
Total Right-of-use asset - 546,424 546,424
Current labilities
Lease liability - 207,274 207,274
Non-current liabilities
Lease liability - 341,153 341,153
Total Lease liability 548,427 548,427

10
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3. Changesinsignificant accounting policies (conti nued)
fey IFR.S 16, Leases fcontinued)
The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 (as

dizclosed in the 2018 audited consolidated financial statements) to the lease liabilities recognised at
1 January 2019:

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018 854,530
Adjustment for codt of area maintenance (283,893)
Operating lease commitments before discounting, Uss 570,637
Discounted using incremental borrowing rate (22.210)
Total lease liabalities recognised under IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 Uss 548,427

4. Significant accounting polides

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements. There have been no changes to accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are as follows:

{a) Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries

Date of

incorporation/

Company Business addition
SH Corporate Services Ltd Registered Office Services April 20, 2001
A 8. Nominees Ltd * Nominee Company January 27, 1978
M., Nominee Ltd. ® Nominee Company January 27, 1978
M. 5 Mominee Lid."™ Nominee Company January 27, 1978
Cardinal Nominee Limited* Nominge Company October 26, 1979
IMS Trustees Ltd.™ Trustee Services April 27, 2012
IMS Liqudations Ltd. Liquidation Services January 25, 2013

* These wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company have been established to act only in a
nominee capacity and have not traded in their own right during the year ended December 31,
2019 and 2018.

11
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
fey Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries {continued)

All income earned and expenses incurred by these companies are accounted for by the Company
and all inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences to the date that control ceases. The Group accounts for business
combinations using the acquisition method when conirol is transfermred to the Group. The
consideration is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net asset acquired.

(b Financial assets and labilities
(i Classification

A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another
financial asset, or to exchange financial instruments under conditions that are potentially
favourable or an equity instrument of another enterprise. Financial assets comprise
cash and cazh equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables and prepaid expenses and
duoe from affihated companies.

A financial liability is any liability that is a confractual obligation to deliver cash or
another financial asset or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable. Financial liabilities comprise due to affiliated
companies, accounts payable and accrued expenses, staff bonuses payable and dividend
pavable.

iy Recogmnition
The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(i) Measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, For financial assets acquired, cost
is the fair value of the consideration given, while for financial liabilities, cost is the fair
value of consideration received. The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is
the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition,
minus principal repayments, plus or mims the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and
the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairments.

12
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4. Significant accounting polides (continued)
(b Financial assets and liabilities (contined)
i Fair vafue

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and
imvolve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore, cannot be
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the
estimates.

The camying amount of financial assets and liabilities is considered to approximate fair
value due to the immediate or short-term nature of these financial instroments.

vl Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group loses control over the contractual rights
that comprise that assel. This occurs when the rights are realised, expire or are surendered.

A financial liability is derecogmsed when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

vy Impairment and calculation of recoverable amount

Previously financial assets were reviewed at each statement of financial position date to
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such indication
existed, the recoverable amount of the asset was estimated.

IFES 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an incurred credit loss model.
The expected credit loss model requires the Company to account for expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since inifial recogmtion of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

The Group’s accounts receivable is related to services that are different in nature, the
majonty are derived from the provision of Fiduciary services and then to a lesser extent
from the provision of registered office services. The clients that these services are
providedto consist of a majority of regulated and administrated hedge funds and insurance
captives, the remainder of clients are companies or trusis belonging to individuals or
individual companies.

Those very same clients may have fees outstanding for the entire period, however, as the
client companies are in good standing it is highly probable that they will settle their dues
when renewing their companies’ registrations in the following year. Management has
determined that providing for these first category receivables in full for all ageing
categories is the most prudent path. conversely as management believe second category
receivables to be fully collectable, no provision wonld therefore be necessary as no credit
loss is expected.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
bl Financiad assers and labilities fcomtimeed)
(vt Impairment and ealewlation of recoverable amount (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If in a
subsequent period the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the write-down, the wnte-down or allowance is
reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

fe) Revenue Recognition

The Group recognises revenue in the amount expected to be received for services supplied at a
point in time or over time as contractual performance obligations are fulfilled and contral of
services passes to the customer.

Where the contractual performance obligations are satisfied over time and revenue is recognised
over lime.

Where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer, This is at the point where the
service 15 delivered to the customer and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the service.

Nature of services

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the Group generates its
revenie,

(i Professional services

Fees generated from a range of professional services including directorship services,
captive insurance management services, trustee services and anti-money laundering
services.

i} Management fee from related pearty
Fees generated from the provision of administration services to a related party.
{5ii) Registered office sewvices
Fees generated from the provision of registered office services.
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies

The Group recognizes revenue from the provision of fiduciary and registered office services to
client companies. The specific services required involve the anmual provision of a director to act
in his fiduciary capacity for client compamnies as well as the provision of a client company
registered office for a set annual fee, In addition, as pat of the contractual terms, client
companies also require corporate services throughout the financial year on the basis of fees
specified in the contract.

14

158/213



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements {continmed)

December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dolfars)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
{e) Revemue Recognifion
Performeance obligations and revenue vecognition policies (continued)

Fiduciary services are provided for the annual period represented by a calendar year which
coincides with the Group’s financial vear. The service is provided for the anmual period unless
the client company relationship is terminating, and the director is formally required to resign
from the board, in these cases pro-rated fees are agreed upon for the reduced

The Group's standard contracts for fiduciary services involve a flat fee for the vear however in
some instances a combination of both a flat fee for annual services recognised over time as well
as a fee based on time spent to perform additional services in the fiduciary function. The director
services agreements outline the conditions of the performance obligations, these are ad-hoc
requests, based on the needs of the client company. These time spent services are distinet in
timing and are recognized based on the date the service was performed.

The provision of registered office services is considered a distinct service which occurs in the
calendar year. This period aligns with the Group and the Government financial year, the revenue
is therefore recognized when the service has been rendered, over the financial year. Refer to
note 6 for further disclosures.

Recognition of contract balances

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for services transferred to the customer.
If the Group performs by transferring services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due. a contract asset is recognised for the uneamed
consideration that is conditional. The Group does not have any contract assets as al December
31, 2019 (2018: USS Nil).

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays consideration before the Group transfers services to the customer, a contract liability is
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract. The Group's
contract liabilities comprise unearned income from payments received that relate to the
following years revenue. Refer to note 6 for details.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Foreign currency

Assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign cumrencies are translated at rates of
exchange prevailing at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Transactions in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction.
Any resulting exchange gains or losses are credited or debited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

(e} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of current bank accounts held with financial institutions
with original terms to maturity of three months or less,

(i Propery, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment loss,

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income after taking
into account residual values over the following expected useful lives of the assets using the

respective methods:
Office building 2.5% pa. Reducing Balance
Computer equipment 20Pe pa.  Straight Line Method
Furniture and equipment 10%% pa. Reducing Balance
Leasehold improvements 107 pa. Reducing Balance

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impaimment. Impairment losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the yvear in which they are identified,

gl Leaves

Al lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on
the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of
any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received),

The Group depreciates the nght-ofiuse assets on a straight-line basis from the lease
commencement date to the earlier ofthe end of the useful life of the rnight-of-use asset or the end
of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use assel for impairment when such
indicators exist,

16
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
il Tncome recognition and fees billed in advance
Management fees are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period for which services are provided.
Uneamed income and payable to clients comprise funds received from clients as prepayments
for services to be performed in future years.
(il Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the
accrual basis,
() Employee benefits
(i Defined contribution pension plan
The Group participates in a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a

post-ecmployment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed confributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation if the plan does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
incurred.

(i} Shori-term benefiits

Shont-term emplovee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount

expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

ik} Assets wnder administration
In the normal course of business, the Group provides fiduciary services by acling as tmustee of
Trusts, The assets and liabilities of the Trusts under the Group's management are not incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements.
5. Finandal risk management
{a} Introduction and overview

The Group has exposure (o credit, liquidity and market risks through its financial instruments, This
note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks and the Group’s
objective, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of
capital.
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5. Finandial risk management (continued)

Risk management frameweork

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s financial risk management framework.

bl Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its obligations and arises primarily from the Group’s accounis
receivable, cash and cash equivalents, and due from affiliated companies.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each client. The demographics of the Group’s client base, including the default risk of the
industry and country in which clients operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. No client
individually reprezents more than 5% of the Group’s income.

The Group’s establishes a provision for bad and donbtful accounis that represenis its estimate
of incurred lossez in respect of accounts receivable. The allowance iz for specific balances
within certain ageing periods.

The nature of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and processes for
managing credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior year. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying value ofits financial assets.

Management of credit visk

The Group manages credit risk in respect of cash and cash equivalents by using reputable
financial institutions to safegnard these financial assets. Management does not expect any
financial losses as a result of these relationships.

The Group manages credit risk in respect of accounts receivables by performing initial credit
evaluations of the financial condition of its clients. Perodic reviews of outstanding customer
balances are performed by management. Management does not expect amy significant
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations. Management believe that unimpaired amounts
that are past due are still collectible in full.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
The Group's aging of accounts receivables at the reponting date was:

Gross  Impairment Gross  Impairment
2019 2019 2018 2018
0 to 30 days 282,381 {(23,746) 317,122 {3,133
31 to 60 days 49,882 (6,.574) 81,707 (1,236)
61 to 90 days 56,610 (12,011) 12,666 (311)
More than 91 days 842,771 (274,660) 734,282  (158.270)

Uss 1,231.644 (316,991) 1145977 (162,950)

fc} Ligeuidity risk

Liquidity risk i= the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Group’s approach to managing, liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet itz liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incwrring unacceptable losses or nsking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The nature of the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk and its objectives, policies and processes
for managing liquidity risk have not changed significantly from the prior year.

fely Marker risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, will affect
the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the returmn.

fel Currency risk

Currency risks arise as a portion of the Group’s payment of expenses are in Cayman Island
dollars. Currency risk is mitigated as the Cayman Islands dollar is fixed against the United States
dollar,

ifi Capital manage ment

The Group’s regulator, the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority {the * Authority™), sets and monitors
capital requirements for the Group under the Monetary Authority Law (2020 Revision), the
Companies Management Law (2018 Revision), the Insurance Law, 2010, the Mutual Funds Law
{2020 Revision) and the Bank and Trust Companies Law (2020 Revision). The Group is required to
have a minimum net worth of CIS400,000 (US$500,000) and has a 3 month filing deadline after year
end date. The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to sustain future development of
the business. The Group has complied with all imposed capital requirements throughout the year,
and there were no material changes to the Group's management of capital during the year.
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6. Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with clients and excludes
amomnts collected on behalf of third parties.

A disaggregation of revenue recognised from comtracts with clients by service offering at the
reporting date is outlined below.

Disaggregated revenue
2019 2018
Professional services 9,113,418 8,761,939
Management fee from related party 464,185 610,148
Registered office services 438,051 618,767
USS 10,015,654 9,990,854

Annual fees are fees charged for the services noted above to client companies. This is primarily in
the form of fixed fees, with additional fees earned on a time spent basis as charged thronghout the
yvear. Revenue is recognised over time as services are rendered or at a point in time when control of
the service transfers to the clients.

Confract fabilities

The following table provides information about the contract liabilities from contracts with clients,
the figures below constitute the revenue portion of amounts represented as uneamed income and
pavable to clients:

Contract Liahilities
2019 2018

Increases due to payments received that relate to the following
VEATs revenne (640,290) (605,299)

Of the total balance from the contract liability as at Jammary 1, 2019 USS 605,229 (2018: USS
644,523 ) has been recogrnised as revenue in the cwrent year,

Noinformation is provided about remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2019 that have
onginal expected duration of one year or less, as allowed by [FRS 15,
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7. Accounts receivable

2019 2018

Giross accounts receivable 1,231,644 1,145,777
Provision for doubtful acconnts (316991} (162,950

USs 914.653 982,827
Movements in the provision for doubtful accounts during the year are as follows:

2019 2018

Balance at beginning of year 162,950 171,061
Charge to consolidated statement of comprehensive income 126,731 80,230
Eecoveries of doubtful debts - (22,880)
Doubtful debts written off 27.310 (65.461)

USS 316,991 162,950

8. Property, plant and equipment
Office Compuier Furniture & Leasehold
2019 building  equipment equipment  improvemenis Total
Cost;
Balance at beginning 341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340
of year
Additions - - - - -
Disposals - (9,406} - - {9,406)
Balance at end of year 341,637 393,590 239816 156,891 1.131,934
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning, 181,790 358,853 172,710 90,884 204,237
of year
Charge for year 4,009 17,083 8,781 7.335 37,298
Disposals - {2,162) - - {2.162)
Balance at end of vear 185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
Net book value at
December 31, 2019 USE 155,748 19,316 58,325 58,672 292,561
21
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8. Property, plant and equipment {(continued)

Office Computer Furniture & Leasehold

2018 building  equipment  equipment improvements Total
Cost;
Balance at beginning 341,637 399,545 236,413 156,891 1,134 486

of year
Additions - 14,268 19,372 - 33,640
Disposals 2 (10.817) (15,969) - (26,786)
Balance at end of vear 341.637 402,996 239816 156,891 1,141,340
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 177,692 346,243 171,807 83,549 779,291

of year
Charge for year 4,098 20,558 7,756 7.335 39.747
Disposals . (7.948) (6.854) . (14,802)
Balance at end of vear 181,790 358,853 172,709 90,884 804,236
Met book value at
December 31, 2018 USS 159,847 44,143 67,107 66,007 337.104

9. Share capital
2019 2018

Authorised:

80,000 shares of CI51 each Uss 96,000 96,000
Issued and fully paid:

41,667 shares Uss 50,000 50,000

[
[
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10, Leases

11.

The Group has leases for its operating premises, a floor of an office building, the lease is reflected
on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The Group classifies its right-of-use
asset in a consistent manner to its property, plant and equipment (see Note 8).

The lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual night for the Group to
sublet the asset to another party. the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases may
only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee.

The table below describes the nature of the Group’s leasing activities recognised on the balance
sheet:

Right-of-use asset Remaining term of the lease 2019

Office premises 1 year, 7 months US3 334,905

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

2019 2018
Less than one year 213,578 -
Between one and two years Uss 127,575 -

Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in the Fidelity Pension Plan, a defined contribution pension scheme. The
Group is required to match each employee’s contribution on a one to one basis up to 5% of the
employee’s ammual salary. During the vear ended December 31, 2019, the Group contributed
UUSS113,355 (2018: USS116.247).

-2
L)
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2019
{stated in United States dollars)

12. Related party transactions

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group earmed the following adminmstration and
management fees from its affiliated companies:

2019 2018
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. USS 464,186 610,148
IM S Secunties Lid. 116,239 115981
Amounts due from related affiliates are as follows:

2019 2018
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. Uss 93,094 154,711

During the vear ended December 31, 2019, the Group paid USS 4,464,445 (2018: 1US84,245,139)
in shortterm employment benefits and USS 88,356 (2018: US$91,120) in longterm employment
benefits to key management personnel.

13. Contingencies

The Group, in its fiduciary capacity, may be a party to litigation and claims in the normal course of
business. Inthe opinion of the Directors, which is based on the advice of the Group’s legal counsel,
no contingency provisions are required at 31 December 2019 (2018; Nil).

14. Subsequent events

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization officially declared COVID-19, the disease
caused by the novel coronavirus, a pandemic. Management 15 closely monitorng the evolution of
this pandemic, including how it may affect the economy and the general population. Management
has not yet determined the financial impact of these events.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has evaluated and disclosed all
material subsequent events up to March 30, 2020 which is the date that the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.
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2020 10 480,000 5,021
2020 10 3,420
1925
2020 10 400,000 5,410 62,500,000 76 3,375
2020 10 30
135.25 122.14
1995
2020 10
2021
2021
2020 55 4,046
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1.1 1993
2020

2018 2019
1.2
1960

1.3
1993
2020
2020

2020
2020

1.4

1.5 2019 12
10,857 2,886
2020
2020

1.6

2.1
2020
CIMA
CIMA

2.2
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2.3
2010
2020 1998
2.4 CIMA CIMA
CIMA
2.5 2020 2020
15
CIMA
2.6
3.1
CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA
CIMA

3.2
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CIMA 100,000 80,000
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CIMA
15
80,000 100,000
CIMA
21 CIMA
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CIMA
2020
4.3
CIMA
21
4.4 2006 12 27 2018
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
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5.1
5.2
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5.3

3.2 CIMA
5.4 CIMA CIMA 10

CIMA

5.5 CIMA

CIMA

CIMA
2020 17
2020 12
2017

5.6 CIMA
5.7 CIMA
5.8 CIMA 24,390 30,488

8,536 36,585

42,682
8,536

6.1
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7.8 7.7 CIMA
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CIMA
CIMA

CIMA CIMA
7.9 7.7 CIMA
7.10 CIMA 7.9 CIMA
7.11 CIMA CIMA
7.12 7.9 7.9

CIMA CIMA

7.13 7.9
7.14 7.13
7.15 7.9 7.9

CIMA CIMA CIMA

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

7.16 7.9 7.9 7.15
CIMA CIMA

7.17 7.15 CIMA

CIMA
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Australian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2020, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2020;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2020;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended,;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other expranatory
information.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internul control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Cayman Idands
December 1, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Directors of International Management Services Ltd.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Management Services Ltd. (the “Group”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, changes in shareholder's equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the
financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Group’s directors as a body and for regulatory
filing purposes only. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SA™). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Other Matter
In addition, the financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 were audited by another auditor
who expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements on March 27, 2019.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or

has no redlistic dternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’ s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financiad Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered materia if, individualy or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professiona judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

I dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group
's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

GrantThornton
George Town
Grand Cayman
March 30, 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Australian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2019, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2019,;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2019;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financia statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISASs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants(IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internul control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Cayman Idands
19 November 2019
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